Topic	Question	Response
Stewart Fountain Demolition	Can you please provide me with all reports relating to the demolition of Stewart Fountain in 2007	Please see the attached PDF

# MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CHRISTCHURCH CITY COUNCIL HELD AT 9.30AM ON THURSDAY 14 DECEMBER 2006

PRESENT:

The Mayor, Garry Moore (Chairperson).

Councillors Helen Broughton, Sally Buck, Graham Condon, Barry Corbett, David Cox, Carole Evans, Pat Harrow, Bob Parker, Bob Shearing, Gail Sheriff, Sue Wells and

Norm Withers.

## 1. APOLOGIES

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Anna Crighton.

It was resolved that the apology be accepted.

#### 2. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES

#### **COUNCIL MEETING OF 7 DECEMBER 2006**

**Resolved:** That the open and public excluded minutes of the Council meeting held on Thursday 7 December 2006 be confirmed.

## 3. DEPUTATIONS BY APPOINTMENT

## **Charleston Cluster Undergrounding**

Mr John Hoskins and Mr Anton Witteman made submissions on behalf of Charleston residents, requesting that the Council adopt option two listed in the staff report on this topic, to permit the undergrounding of overhead services in the Charleston streets to be completed over the next two years.

It was resolved that the submissions be considered in conjunction with the staff report.

# 8. CHARLESTON CLUSTER UNDERGROUNDING

Councillor Cox **moved**: "That the Council adopt option two, to permit the undergrounding of services in the Charleston streets to be completed over the next two years." The motion was seconded by Councillor Corbett.

Councillor Wells **moved** by way of amendment "That the Council adopt option one, to enable the undergrounding of services in the Charleston streets to be completed over the next four years." The amendment was seconded by Councillor Buck and when put to the meeting was declared **carried** as the substantive motion.

(Note: Councillors Cox and Harrow recorded their votes against the adoption of the foregoing resolution.)

#### 4. PRESENTATION OF PETITIONS

Nil.

# 5. CORRESPONDENCE

Nil.

# 6. CHRISTCHURCH CITY COUNCIL EVENTS STRATEGY

Resolved: That the staff recommendations be adopted.

- 2 -

# 7. COMMUNITY BOARD DELEGATIONS AND TERMS OF REFERENCE

Resolved: That the staff recommendations be adopted.

#### 8. CHARLESTON CLUSTER UNDERGROUNDING

This clause was dealt with earlier in the meeting.

# 9. PLAN CHANGE 10 TO CITY PLAN - URBAN EXTENSION, HUSSEY ROAD

Moved: That the staff recommendation be adopted.

Councillor Wells moved by way of amendment "That the report be held over for further consideration at the 1 February 2007 Council meeting." The amendment was seconded by Councillor Broughton and when put to the meeting was declared **lost** on division no 1 by 10 votes to 3, the voting being as follows:

Against (10): The Mayor, Councillors Condon, Corbett, Cox, Evans, Harrow, Parker,

Shearing, Sheriff and Withers.

For (3): Councillors Broughton, Buck and Wells.

Councillor Shearing moved a further amendment by way of addition "That if necessary the Council make a submission to the Notified Proposed Plan Change 10, dealing with traffic infrastructure and other matters that may arise related to the plan change." The amendment was seconded by Councillor Corbett and when put to the meeting was declared carried.

It was then **resolved** that the staff recommendation be adopted, subject to the inclusion of the foregoing amendment moved by Councillor Shearing and seconded by Councillor Corbett.

(Note: Councillor Broughton recorded her vote against the adoption of the foregoing resolution.)

# 36. PRESENTATION TO SALVATION ARMY MAJOR BOB MILLAR AND MAJOR EVELYN MILLAR

The Mayor made presentations to Major Bob Millar and Major Evelyn Millar, to mark their retirement after a 37 year career with the Salvation Army, during which they had been involved in setting up the country's first food bank, and the provision of assistance to sex workers and persons living on the streets, as part of the Army's Street Outreach Programme.

Major Bob Millar then replied, thanking the Council for its assistance during his time with the Salvation Army.

### 10. TUAM LIMITED - ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Resolved: That the staff recommendation be adopted.

# 11. INTEREST RATES APPLICABLE TO COMMUNITY LOANS

**Resolved:** That this report be deferred, and that staff be requested to report back on the possible introduction of revised procedures which will be simpler for the Council to administer, and less onerous for the borrowers.

# 12. GREATER CHRISTCHURCH URBAN DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY - JOINT HEARINGS COMMITTEE - CONSIDERATION OF UDS SUBMISSIONS

# It was resolved:

- 1. That the staff recommendations be adopted.
- 2. That the Deputy Mayor (Councillor Carole Evans) and Councillors Bob Shearing and Sue Wells be appointed as the Christchurch City Council's representatives on the Greater Christchurch UDS Joint Hearing Committee.

# 13. AMENDMENT TO THE CANTERBURY TRIENNIAL AGREEMENT FOR FUTURE CONSULTATION ON THE CANTERBURY REGIONAL POLICY STATEMENT

Resolved: That the staff recommendation be adopted.

## 14. ADOPTION OF SCHEDULE OF ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETINGS AND SEMINARS

Resolved: That the staff recommendation be adopted.

#### 15. BURNSIDE PARK: TEMPORARY CLOSURE FOR INTERNATIONAL BOWLS COMPETITIONS

Resolved: That the staff recommendations be adopted.

## 16. ARMAGH STREET KERB EXTENSION

The meeting was advised that since the report had been written, it had been ascertained that the Courts Department had no objection to the proposal, and that the Hagley/Ferrymead Community Board had also recommended that the applicant be required to take appropriate measures to preserve the heritage kerbstone in this locality.

It was therefore resolved that:

- (a) The Council approve the application, and the associated removal of the two existing 'Pay and Display' spaces, subject to the following conditions:
  - (i) All costs associated with the kerb extension being met by the applicant, and any outdoor furniture placed on the street complying with Council policy and appropriate measures being taken to preserve the heritage kerbstone in this locality.
  - (ii) In the event of the applicant terminating the licence for the outdoor dining area, the applicant being responsible for all costs relating to the reinstatement of the two 'Pay and Display' spaces.
- (b) The existing restriction prohibiting the stopping of vehicles on the south side of Armagh Street commencing from Oxford Terrace and extending 35 metres in a westerly direction be revoked.
- (c) The stopping of vehicles be prohibited at any time on the south side of Armagh Street commencing from Oxford Terrace and extending 49 metres in a westerly direction.

## 17. ROAD LEGALISATION: ST LUKES STREET

This report was held over to a later stage of the meeting.

# 18. HOLDING OF FORMAL HEARINGS AS PART OF THE CONSULTATION ON THE DRAFT COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

**Resolved:** That formal hearings be held by the Council to hear the submissions on the proposed Community Development Strategy.

#### 19. CENTRAL CITY OMNIBUS REPORT

Resolved: That the information be received.

# 19(b) CHRISTCHURCH CITY MALL RENOVATION

**Moved** "That the staff recommendations be adopted, subject to recommendation (a) being amended to read "That the Council adopt the overall concept design and grant approval for the project to proceed to the detailed design and construction phase.""

## Councillor Wells moved by way of amendment:

- (a) "That recommendation (b) be amended to read "That the Council grant approval in principle for the Cashel Street portion of the City Mall (both east and west of Colombo Street) and High Street between Cashel Street and Hereford Street to be available for access by cyclists at all times, and that staff be authorised to commence the necessary special consultative procedure to give effect to the this proposal."
- (c) That recommendation (c) be deleted."

The amendment was seconded by Councillor Buck and when put to the meeting was declared **lost** on division 2 by two votes to eleven, the voting being as follows:

Against (11): The Mayor, Councillors Broughton, Condon, Corbett, Cox, Evans, Harrow, Parker, Shearing, Sheriff and Withers.

30.

For (2): Councillors Buck and Wells.

Councillor Shearing moved by way of further amendment:

"That recommendation (c) be amended to read "That the Council approve in principle the installation of a one-way slow road in Cashel Street between Oxford Terrace and High Street, and in High Street between Cashel Street and Hereford Street, to permit private vehicle and bicycle access at all times, and that staff be authorised to commence the necessary special consultative procedure to give effect to this proposal."

"That recommendation (b) be deleted)."

The amendment was seconded by Councillor Cox and when put to the meeting was declared carried on division 3 by 7 votes to 6, the voting being as follows:

For (7): The Mayor, Councillors Corbett, Cox, Evans, Parker, Shearing and Sheriff.

Against (6): Councillors Broughton, Condon, Harrow, Withers, Buck and Wells.

It was then resolved that the motion be adopted, subject to the inclusion of the foregoing amendment.

(Note: Councillor Buck recorded her vote against the adoption of the resolution.)

20. REPORT OF THE CHRISTCHURCH CITY COUNCIL/ENVIRONMENT CANTERBURY JOINT COMMITTEE: MEETING OF 27 NOVEMBER 2006

It was resolved that the report be received.

21. REPORT OF THE RICCARTON/WIGRAM COMMUNITY BOARD: MEETING OF 20 NOVEMBER 2006

It was resolved that the Board's report be adopted.

- 22. REPORT OF THE SHIRLEY/PAPANUI COMMUNITY BOARD: MEETING OF 1 NOVEMBER 2006
  - It was **resolved** that the Board's report be received.
- 23. REPORT OF THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE SHIRLEY/PAPANUI COMMUNITY BOARD: BLIGHS ROAD

It was resolved that the report be adopted.

## 33. SUPPLEMENTARY REPORTS

The Mayor referred to the following supplementary reports, which had been separately circulated after the agenda had been sent out:

- Staff report on the Notice of Motion lodged by Councillor Helen Broughton, regarding the possible opening of Sockburn Pool for the 2007/08 summer season.
- Report by the Chairperson of the Fendalton/Waimairi Community Board on Blighs Road Kerb and Channel Renewal Project.

The Mayor advised that it had not been possible to circulate these reports with the agenda, as the required information was not available at that time, but that it was necessary for both reports to be dealt with at the present Council meeting, rather than being deferred to a subsequent meeting. It was **resolved** that the reports be received and considered at the present Council meeting.

# 35. REPORT BY THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE FENDALTON/WAIMAIRI COMMUNITY BOARD REGARDING BLIGHS ROAD KERB AND CHANNEL RENEWAL PROJECT

Resolved: That the report be adopted.

#### 17. ROAD LEGALISATION: ST LUKES STREET

Resolved: That the staff recommendation be adopted.

#### 24. NOTICES OF MOTION

#### (a) Community Development Strategy

This motion was adopted earlier in the meeting.

# (b) Closure of Jellie Park Pool and opening of Sockburn Pool for the 2007/08 Summer Season

The supplementary staff report on this topic was also considered in conjunction with the notice of motion.

With the leave of the meeting, Councillor Broughton amended her motion to read "That the possibility of reopening Sockburn Pool for the 2007/08 summer season lie on the table, together with the staff report." The amended motion was then put to the meeting and declared carried.

#### 25. QUESTIONS

Nil.

(12.20pm Councillors Cox and Harrow retired.)

# 26. RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE THE PUBLIC

It was **resolved** that the resolution to exclude the public set out on page 213 of the agenda be adopted.

It was also **resolved** that Dr Paddy Austin (Chairperson, Christchurch City Holdings Ltd) be permitted to remain at the meeting following the exclusion of the public, to enable her to advise the Council regarding the appointment of her successor.

## **CONFIRMED THIS 8TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2007**

#### 19. CENTRAL CITY OMNIBUS REPORT



General Manager responsible:	General Manager City Environment, DDI 941-8656
Officer responsible:	General Manager City Environment
Authors:	Jane Parfitt, General Manager City Environment and Mike Theelen, General Manager Strategy and Planning Group

#### **PURPOSE OF REPORT**

- The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of Central City Revitalisation. It provides
  the context for decisions to be made with regard to City Mall renovations and the bus exchange
  site which are covered by two separate reports "Christchurch City Mall Renovation" and "Bus
  Exchange Expansion Site Selection". The latter report is included in the public excluded
  section of this agenda.
- 2. On 7 September 2006, the Council considered the following reports:
  - Central City Revitalisation Strategy Stage II
  - Central City South
  - Central City Lanes Plan
  - City Mall Renovation
  - Lichfield Street Two-Way
  - Bus Exchange Project Update
- 3. It was noted that the reports overlapped and interlocked with each other, and that this reflected the complex inter-relationships that the Council, Council staff and the public needed to grapple with to achieve revitalisation of the central city. The need to work in a co-ordinated and comprehensive manner throughout the central city continues to be vital.

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

- 4. The Council's vision for the Central City, first adopted in 2001 was:
  - "A vibrant, exciting, safe and sustainable heart of Christchurch. A heart whose economy, environment, culture and society are healthy and strong."
- 5. The Stage 2 Revitalisation Strategy, which provides the overall framework and umbrella that guides actions in the central city over the next five to ten years was adopted, as were the broad principles and directions for a key part of that area the Central City South.
- 6. The City Mall Plan approved by the Council on 7 September has been modified as a result of the consultation process and Council seminars. The next stage is for the Council to grant approval for the project to proceed to detailed design and construction as per the "Christchurch City Mall Renovation" report.
- 7. A preferred site and back-up sites have been identified for the Bus Exchange and the implications of these with respect to the Two Way Lichfield Street project have been investigated. The Council's endorsement of these sites is required as per the "Bus Exchange Expansion Site Selection" report. It should be noted that all sites work well with the Two-Way Lichfield Street project and further work on moving the arterial function of Lichfield Street is under way.
- 8. Substantial progress is being made in the upgrading of Central City lanes. Construction is under way for improvements to Lichfield and Struthers Lanes and a project brief is currently being prepared for the upgrading of Westpac Lane.
- 9. VBase are presenting at a seminar for Councillors on 19 December 2006 and this will update Councillors on the current situation on the Civic Building.
- 10. While the hearings for the Botanic Gardens have not yet taken place and the full report is scheduled for a Council decision in March 2007, submissions do not appear to favour the proposal to turn Riccarton Road into a Slow Road.

11. Work identified in the LTCCP and under way on tree planting, streetscape design and parking will be the subject of separate reports. Staff are mindful of the need to ensure that they are also included as part of the wider revitalisation programme.

#### FINANCIAL AND LEGAL

- 12. Each report outlines the relevant financial and legal issues.
- 13. Within the revised City Mall Concept Plan are a number of preferred options that require the details be the subject of a Special Consultative Procedure (SCP), specifically the introduction of cycles into the Cashel Street portions of the City Mall and the introduction of a slow road into the High Street section of the City Mall. These requirements will not impact on the design or construction phases of the project because the physical structures being implemented, to provide for service and emergency vehicles can become cycle access or roads with the removal of signage and restrictions. The SCP processes have the potential to result in appeals to the High and/or Environment Court, although good process will mitigate but not completely eliminate this possibility.

## STAFF RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Council receive the information.

#### CHRISTCHURCH CITY MALL RENOVATION

General Manager responsible:	General Manager City Environment, DDI 941-8656
Officer responsible:	Ross Herrett, Manager Capital Programme
Author:	Clarrie Pearce, Project Manager

#### PURPOSE OF REPORT

1. The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval of the revised City Mall Renovation Plan produced by the Isthmus Group (as attached) and obtain approval for the project to proceed to the detailed design and construction phase.

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

- 2. In 2006 as part of the LTCCP process, the Council agreed that the City Mall area was in need of revitalisation and allocated \$10.5 million for the renovation of this public space. Following on from that decision, Council staff and consultants developed a renovation plan for City Mall. Council staff are now seeking final approval and direction on this plan.
- 3. The proposed City Mall Renovation Plan, as approved for consultation by the Council on 7 September 2006, (shown in the minutes as Item 6 Section One and hereafter referred to as "the Plan"), has been modified by the Isthmus Group as the direct result of feedback from the public consultation process and the subsequent Council Seminar on 7 November 2006.
- 4. Within the revised City Mall Concept Plan are a number of preferred options that require the details to be the subject of a Special Consultative Procedure (SCP), specifically the introduction of cycles into the Cashel Street portions of the City Mall and the introduction of a slow road into the High Street section of the City Mall. These requirements will not impact on the design or construction phases of the project because the physical structures being implemented, to provide for service and emergency vehicles, can become cycle access or roads with the removal of signage and restrictions. The SCP processes have the potential to result in appeals to the High count and/or Environment Court, although good process will mitigate but not completely eliminate this possibility.
- 5. The City Mall is in need of revitalisation. At present it is cluttered, worn and outdated. The area has been losing customers to the suburban malls for a number of years. New and existing businesses are choosing either not to locate in the city centre or to relocate to other retail precincts. This is threatening the vitality of the central city area. The Christchurch City Council believes an upgrade of the City Mall will help it regain its former status as Christchurch's premier shopping area and help revitalise the central city as a whole.
- 6. The Isthmus Group were commissioned to review all design criteria and present to the Council a preferred design proposal to be used as the basis for public consultation. In the development of this preferred design, substantial outreach to gain feedback from the various stakeholders, including Councillors, was undertaken. This outreach included ongoing meetings with retailers in the area, landowners, adjacent schools, specific interests such as the Stewart Family and the operators of the tram. Feedback was sought from Councillors during five Council seminars in February, May, August, November and December 2006.
- 7. The Plan approved by the Council on 7 September 2006 went to public consultation on the 19 September 2006, for four weeks.
- 8. It is important to note that the Plan contains designs for areas that are outside the currently budgeted project area. This budgeted area is defined as the current pedestrian-only areas of Cashel Street and High Street. This extra design work was done to ensure that future central city revitalisation efforts in the area align with our current work in the City Mall. In this report, Council staff are only seeking approval for the areas within the current project budget, but are operating on the understanding that future capital improvements would align with the vision established by the Plan.

- 9. Beyond physical and capital improvements to the area, the City Mall project has also endeavoured to establish mechanisms for greater management and coordination amongst private property owners and tenants. In the coming months, Council staff, in conjunction with the Canterbury Employers' Chamber of Commerce (CECC), will continue to explore the development of a retail association for this district.
- 10. The options in this report are based upon building the "road like" structures throughout all parts of the mall to contain and regulate service vehicles. In addition there is an option to include in the base of these structures a concrete base designed to allow the laying of tram tracks in the future. This "future proofing" of the area with provisioning for the tram has a total estimated cost of \$455,000 for which there is no budget provision, however the \$125,000 required to cover the first section in 2007/08 will come from the Central City Transport Strategy budget. The subsequent construction sections do not require specific City Mall budget cover on the basis that decisions regarding the tram will be made by the Council before the 2008/09 construction phase begins. These structures may then be the subject of a Special Consultative Procedure (SCP) should the Council wish to include cycles, the tram or other forms of traffic in the future. Staff recommendations later in the report expand on this process as does the financial and legal considerations following.

## FINANCIAL AND LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

- 11. The Central City Revitalisation Strategy Stage II (pages 44-49) contains an outline of the Council's intended work programme for the next ten years. The City Mall Renovation funding of \$10.5m is identified in the Stage II document (page 42) from 2006 to 2008 as approved in the 2006 2016 LTCCP.
- 12. The City Mall is a legal road that was given a pedestrian mall designation by special order under the Local Government Act 1974. If the opening of parts of the City Mall to cycles, the tram or vehicles other than service vehicles as currently designated, is chosen by the Council then to change the designation of these legal road portions of the mall for a different use will require the special order that gives the mall pedestrian status to be revoked or modified.
- 13. The requirements of the Local Government Act 1974 (S716B) still apply and revocation or modification of the special order will require a "special consultative procedure" (SCP) of the Local Government Act 2002 involving further public notification and hearings.
- 14. This process, if needed, would involve:
  - Council resolution to commence special order procedures.
  - Public notification.
  - Hearing
  - Second Council resolution based upon the results of consultation.
- 15. Should the above SCP take place and a subsequent legal challenge, to the Environment Court or the High Court be initiated, then the costs might be in the order of \$50,000 to \$100,000 or more depending upon appeals and this will impact on the capital budget allocated for construction. The Council's legal staff have indicated that good process will mitigate any opportunities for subsequent legal action. In terms of legal status, the roads would be built and exist with their current restrictions in place, signage changing the designation could not be applied without the SCP being successful. This means that legal challenges would not change the basic design nor delay the construction; the way in which the road might be used would be the only issue.
- 16. This proposal will mean the removal of a number of trees in the area. Some of these are in poor health and need to be removed, others can be transplanted to other areas but a few may need to be cut down. As an example the large tree outside the Hallenstein's building which was planted in 1950 is estimated to only have one or two years life left. New trees will also need to be planted. It is proposed to use upright branching species allowing views to buildings and the hills.

17. The costs associated with the implementation of the attached design, in the designated areas, have been the subject of a quantity estimate and this fits within the overall \$10.5m budget. Budget provision for work on areas adjoining this design proposal will be covered by operational budgets as and when it is considered appropriate for that work to proceed.

#### STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Council resolve to:

- (a) Adopt the overall Concept Design.
- (b) Grant approval in principle for the Cashel Street portion of the city mall (both east and west of Colombo Street) to be available for access by cyclists at all times, and that staff be authorised to commence the necessary special consultative procedure to give effect to this proposal.
- (c) Approve in principle the installation of a one-way slow road in High Street between Cashel Street and Hereford Street, to permit private vehicle and bicycle access at all times, and that staff be authorised to commence the necessary special consultative procedure to give effect to this proposal.
- (d) Approve the installation of a concrete base which is able to support a possible future extension of the tram, during the construction of the first section.
- (e) Request Council staff to continue to keep Councillors informed on the developed design, specifically as part of the Central City Review seminar to be held in March 2007.
- (f) Authorise a study into the viability of expanding the tram in the Central City that would serve both tourists and Christchurch residents, with an initial report to the Council by June 2007.
- (g) Request a Council staff report in February 2007 on the structure, funding and membership for the proposed City Mall Marketing Association.

# **BACKGROUND ON CITY MALL RENOVATION PROJECT**

- 18. The City Mall was designed in the late 1970s as Christchurch's premier shopping area. The pedestrian mall plays host to a wide range of commercial uses including shops of all sizes, small offices, cafes, restaurants and Ballantynes our locally owned department store. By day, the mall is used by pedestrians for shopping, meeting friends, people-watching and going to and from their business and leisure activities. In good weather bakery and café patrons enjoy sitting out in the mall, creating warmth and vibrancy. By night, the City Mall turns into a thoroughfare for people moving between the City's most popular nightspots.
- 19. In addition to the numerous heritage buildings located on the mall, the area also has historical importance for Christchurch. Cashel Street was the route used by soldiers leaving King Edward Barracks (located on Cashel Street between Durham and Montreal Streets) for the railway station on Moorhouse Avenue during WWI and WWII. This strong emotional connection is emphasized by the Bridge of Remembrance at the western end of the mall.
- 20. In 1966, the first submission was made to develop this street and part of High Street into the 'premier shopping centre'. In 1968 the city plan was changed and the recommendation to change this street into a pedestrian mall was proposed. Stage 1 of the City Mall was completed in 1982 and involved the removal of kerbs and flattening the road profile to make it more pedestrian friendly. Trees and circular seats were also added in such a way as to maintain an access route for emergency vehicles.
- 21. Stage 2 involved the introduction of pavers to the pedestrian area. Two airbridges were also constructed to create a link between the second story of buildings from what was then The National Mutual Arcade (AKA the Axa Centre and now 'Link') via the Triangle Centre to Arthur Barnett (now The Crossing Food Hall). These second floor retail tenancies however have never functioned well.
- 22. The Stewart Fountain, which was constructed in the 1970's, forms an important entrance point to the mall at Hereford Street with its link to Cathedral Square. This fountain has also undergone numerous changes with its most recent upgrade occurring in 1999. The fountain has struggled to function correctly from the beginning and remains a difficult and unresolved area within the mall.
- 23. The City Mall has become increasingly less attractive as various entities have added street furniture and utilities in an ad hoc manner. The features of the mall have also degraded through general aging and as a result of heavy usage.
- 24. In 2004-05, funds were available to complete a necessary upgrade of the lighting in the mall and work was also done on the amphitheatre to remove the old terracotta tiles which, owing to age and safety concerns, required urgent attention. Under pressure from internal and external groups for more to be done, plans to overhaul all the planters, seating and street furniture in both Cashel and High Street out to Manchester Street were proposed and estimated to cost \$1.9 million. These plans were viewed as only partial improvements, and the Council concluded that the time had come to undertake a major rethink and renovation of this important space.
- 25. The City Mall has other challenges that go beyond the present physical conditions on Cashel and High Streets. Over the last 20 years, the central city area of Christchurch has experienced a decline in its share of retail tenants and shoppers relative to the greater metropolitan area. While the aging and current design of the City Mall has been one reason for its decline, other factors have also contributed to this trend. The mall has faced significant competition from suburban shopping malls and out-of-centre big box/bulk retail with the development of four major suburban malls and 26 smaller centres. Combined, this retail space has given Christchurch the largest percentage of retail floor space per capita in the southern hemisphere. Christchurch's permissive land use policy has allowed this retail expansion into industrial zones of the City. Other factors have been the increased mobility of residents mirrored by a rise in vehicle ownership and changes in consumer spending patterns.

26. On a more positive note, there has been a countervailing trend toward the development of boutique retail in areas near the City Mall such as High Street and Victoria Street. These retailers have catered to a market not served by the outlying shopping centres. The mall has also been supported by the continued success of the nearby cultural precinct, the proximity afforded by a well used intra- city bus terminal, and the tourists attracted to Cathedral Square. The recent development of a central city secondary school in the mall has also added a new dimension. It is hoped that a revitalised City Mall would connect to and reinforce these strengths of the central city.

# **Process History**

January - February 2006

A contract for the development of conceptual designs is established with the Isthmus Group and design work begins. This work is managed by a PCG whose members are Anna Crighton (Councillor), Richard Ballantyne (businessman), Steve Collins (businessman), Ian Hay, Ross Herrett, Carolyn Ingles, Dave Hinman, John Craig, Melanie Williams and Maurice Roers (Council officers).

February - June 2006

Preliminary design work is completed which includes the development of four design concepts, an initial sketch plan and a proposed design. Feedback is sought throughout the design process with specific input from local retails and landowners, schools adjacent the mall, Council officers and the general public through a storefront on City Mall. In addition, three seminars are held with Councillors in February, May and August to get feedback on the renovation and proposed design.

- June 2006
  - The Council through the LTCCP process allocates \$10.5 million in capital funding to the renovation of the City Mall area,
- June August 2006

Preliminary designs were progressed and a formal design proposal was developed for public consultation. This proposed design incorporates feedback gained from extensive stakeholder meetings including elected officials, land owners and retailers, schools, and interested residents.

September 2006

A proposed design for the renovation of City Mall was approved by Council for consultation.

October - November 2006

The proposed design was put out for consultation. This public comment period ran for four weeks during which time over 600 submissions were received. Following this, the Council held public hearings at which time those submitters who wished to speak to their submission did so.

November – December 2006

The proposed design was modified in response to comments made during the consultation period, including the following changes:

- In the proposal, Cashel Street is closed to private vehicles. This change from the original
  proposal is in response to submissions from the general public as well as a submission
  from the Police citing safety concerns. Keeping Cashel Street closed to private vehicles
  also addresses an ECan concern about potential congestion on Colombo Street and its
  impact on the bus network
- In response to concerns expressed primarily by the schools, Cashel Street between Colombo and High Street will remain pedestrian only. This street will contain ample seating and gathering areas for youth. It will also provide safe entrance and egress to the buildings which currently contain schools.
- In response to submissions, the proposal allows for bicycles access throughout the Mall area.

- High Street includes access for private vehicles. Access by private vehicles is proposed
  in response to the expressed desires of local property owners and retailers, to reestablish the historic connection of High Street towards the Port Hills, to strengthen the
  link between lower High Street and Cathedral Square, to increase visibility and
  movement, and to establish a promenade that links key parts of the Central City. Wide
  footpaths and generous planting have been provided to make this street a pedestrianoriented environment.
- The Cashel Street overbridge is being retained and enhanced.
- The "Hack" area has been reconfigured substantially. Fewer trees for this portion of the Mall have been incorporated in the design based upon concern that the original proposal contained plantings that were too dense. The space in this triangle has been opened up to allow it to still act as a gathering space and it has the ability to hold multi-media events.; The space has been designed to cater to youth, particularly through the provision of seating and events space.
- A second review has been conducted of all trees and the plan gives careful attention to the retention of existing trees.
- The Garden Rooms have been opened up to allow for better sightlines and increase cross block connections,
- A place near the current Stewart Fountain has been identified to contain a significant piece of public art.
- An emphasis on highlighting heritage buildings where possible.
- The kiosk has been removed from in front of Hallensteins.
- The width and configuration of footpaths on Cashel Street have been altered to create a stronger corridor towards the Bridge or Remembrance.
- More greenery, particularly grass, has been inserted into the plan.
- The paving has been modified to be provide greater coherence and simplicity.
- Seating has been rearranged to support the youth campus in front of the schools and to not obstruct pedestrian access lines.
- The various areas of seating in other places have been changed to make them more open with less "internal" focus.
- More sustainability features have been incorporated such as the use of more local materials and ability to clean stormwater.
- The tram concept has been retained due to popular support with the tram being referred for a specific study and provision made within the first construction zone for a concrete base to be laid to future proof the structure.
- 27. The Council appointed baseplus to undertake a junction assessment at Colombo Street/High Street and Hereford Street to assess the potential opening of a one way arm on High Street onto Hereford east of Colombo Street.
- 28. The existing Christchurch CBD Paramics model has been utilised for this assessment. This represents the existing situation (no extension of High Street through to Hereford Street as option 1 (or "Do-Nothing"). Two potential scheme options for the treatment of the exit onto Hereford Street have been assessed against this existing situation: Option 2 as a priority control and Option 3 as a signalised intersection. All options have been assessed to determine the predicted performance during a representative inter-peak period and the evening peak period. Given the nature of the proposed scheme and relatively low traffic volumes, the morning peak period was assumed to be not critical to the assessment.
- 29. The measures reported here are the levels of service measured by delay in seconds for all approaches through the intersection, the maximum queue lengths on the approaches to the study intersection and the network statistics for the entire CBD area.
- 30. The output analysis and comparisons demonstrate that local delays increase for the intersection, that the signalised option is preferred over the priority control and that overall the CBD is not affected by the local change.

## Improving Retail Management

- 31. In tandem with the development of designs for the physical improvement of the City Mall, Council staff have been working to identify means of improving the management of the City Mall area. As a prominent retail district, this work has focused on possible changes that can be instituted to support retail trade in the area. A specific focus has been in getting the businesses in the area to take greater ownership of managing the area and thereby making it more desirable to customers. Without any changes to the management of the area, the Council's concern is that physical improvements to the area will be merely a band-aid solution to the problem.
- 32. Noting this concern, Council staff have included business improvement and management as a vital part of any redevelopment proposal. The successful contractors for the City Mall project, the Isthmus Group, have included the skills of David West who is an experienced mall manager and retail expert from Adelaide. David West was instrumental in getting the retailers and business people involved in the design phase of the project but also has inspired them to see greater possibilities for a business association within the area.
- 33. The retail and business community in the City Mall area are now keen to set up a business association or business improvement district to provide services over and above those provided by the Council. It is likely that this association will seek to appoint a mall manager who answers to the association.
- 34. The CECC, who are funded by the Council to provide Central City Marketing, are involved in this project and there is good integration between the CECC programme and the Council's Central City Revitalisation programme. To this end, the CECC are dedicating over half of this year's Council funding to support our work with the Isthmus Group and David West on the City Mall. Retailers and landowners are currently in the process of organising themselves, but it is believe that the proposed business association will focus on the area surrounding the present City Mall. Based on the success of a business association in the City Mall area, it is the CECC's intention to use the City Mall improvement district as a template for future efforts throughout the Central City.
- 35. A significant objective of the Business Group and intended business association will be to identify and establish a secure source of funding, not provided by general rates. To assist in the development of this proposed business association the CECC will provide the bulk of logistical and operational support as part of their Central City Marketing work.
- 36. To assist City Mall businesses in the establishment of a proposed business association or improvement district, Council staff in conjunction with the CECC, the Isthmus Group and David West are:
  - Building a complete database of all businesses, building owners and managers in the City Mall area
  - Identifying sustainable funding options and processes
  - Identifying operations that could be undertaken by the business association including enhanced cleaning, maintenance, security and marketing
  - Surveying retailers/businesses on needs and desires for the area
  - Holding meetings with central city businesses, organizing initial meeting and agendas, outlining ideas for a City Mall business association and gauging commitment
  - Inviting expressions of interest for members of the City Mall Association Steering Committee
  - Identifying a structure for the committee
  - Developing an election programme
- 37. Council staff and the CECC will be working with the City Mall Business Steering Committee to:
  - Define the role and goals of the Association
  - Select a Chairman from committee
  - Develop a job description for Project Manager and/or Central City Manager
  - Decide on funding mechanism, consultation and implementation
- 38. Council staff will continue to look at ways the council can assist businesses collect funds and improve services.

## **OPTIONS**

- 39. It should be noted that the option of retaining the status quo has previously been rejected by Council in prior decisions and reports. Most notably, the 2006-2016 LTCCP identifies the City Mall as in need of renovation and change.
- 40. **City Mall West**, Accept the proposed design with the retention of the pedestrian precinct restrictions on traffic flows to service vehicles outside the hours of 11:00am and 4:00pm daily. Enhance this option to include 24 hour per day cycle access and lay the base for possible tram tracks, cycle access requires an SCP.
- 41. **City Mall East**, Accept the proposed design with the retention of the pedestrian precinct restrictions on traffic flows to service vehicles outside the hours of 11:00am and 4:00pm daily. Enhance this option to include 24 hour per day cycle access and lay the base for possible tram tracks, cycle access requires an SCP.
- 42. **City Mall High Street** Accept the proposed design and open the street to one way traffic at all times, also lay the base for possible tram tracks. To introduce traffic other than service vehicles requires an SCP.
- 43. That the Council give approval for a study to be undertaken to investigate all matters relating to the possible extension of the tram, including costs, commercial viability, technical feasibility, traffic implications along with alternative modes of transport including light rail and modern trams.
- 44. That the Council agree to continue to support the establishment of a City Mall business association, and continue to work with the CECC in the development of an association that is able to deliver enhanced management and services to the area and that is self-sustaining with no impact on general rates.

#### ASSESSMENT OF OPTIONS

# The Preferred Option

45. **City Mall West**, Accept the proposed design with the retention of the restrictions on traffic flows to service vehicles outside the hours of 11:00am and 4:00pm daily. Enhance this option to include 24 hour per day cycle access and lay the base for possible Tram tracks.

	Benefits (current and future)	Costs (current and future)
Social	Opportunity to increase public access and enhance public spaces for social interaction	
Cultural	Opportunity to enhance the City Mall precincts and the urban identity of Christchurch City in general  Opportunities to provide new artworks in new public spaces  Opportunities to increase the	
	conservation and retention of heritage features	
Environmental	Opportunities to improve the physical amenity and over all feel of the area.  Opportunities to increase the growth and use of the area	
Economic	Opportunities to increase economic investment and activity by raising the environmental amenity, diversity, and intensity of land use activities.  Opportunities to increase cultural tourism in Christchurch Central City	To open up the roadway for Cycles and/or the tram will require an SCP.  To future proof the road and allow for the tram has a cost of \$211,000 for which there is no budget provision. It is expected that this will be resolved as a result of the requested tram study.  The approved funding for the plan as presented is ex the LTCCP as per paragraph 11 above.

# Extent to which community outcomes are achieved:

Primarily aligned with the Community Outcome of A Prosperous City and an Attractive and Well Designed City, and also contributes to A Safe City by:

- o Actively pursuing public-private partnerships for urban renewal and development
- Improving pedestrian amenity and access
- o Using quality urban design principles to improve use of interaction between public-private spaces
- Strengthening the character and identity of the Central City by highlighting its distinctive features, including historic features
- Creating opportunities to increase diversity and intensity of land use and therefore increasing efficient resource use
- o Improving lighting and redesign of areas identified as currently being "high crime sites".

# Impact on Council's capacity and responsibilities:

It may be necessary to extend the city street maintenance and cleaning programme to cover additional requirements at additional ongoing costs.

The new "road like" structures will require strict enforcement policies to be implemented and to be seen to be implemented.

# Effects on Maori:

None identified

# Consistency with existing Council policies:

In addition to the Community Outcomes under the Long Term Council Community Plan, the City Mall Renovation is aligned with the Central City Revitalisation Strategy and the Central City Transport Concept. It is also consistent with Council policy to improve pedestrian facilities and the quality of the pedestrian environment under the Christchurch City Plan and the Christchurch Pedestrian Strategy. As an urban design and development initiative, the Plan also gives expression to the National Urban Design Protocol which the Council signed in 2005.

# Views and preferences of persons affected or likely to have an interest:

These have been reflected during the consultation process and subsequent seminar.

#### Other relevant matters:

The physical structure being put in place to contain and regulate service vehicles is by any other name a road. It is the legal definition, signage and enforcement that changes its usage and the public perception regarding whether it is a "road". It is for this reason that the build can proceed without any SCP as the usage and designation will be exactly the same as it is currently, being that usage is restricted to goods service vehicles between the hours of 4:00pm and 11:00am daily. This same restriction means that to introduce a cycle way requires an SCP process which if successful would then result in signs indicating that cycling is allowed, likewise for other vehicles or varied usage including the tram.

46. **City Mall East**, Accept the proposed design with the retention of the restrictions on traffic flows to service vehicles outside the hours of 11am and 4pm daily. Enhance this option to include 24 hour per day cycle access and lay the base for possible Tram tracks.

	Benefits (current and future)	Costs (current and future)
Social	Opportunity to increase public access and enhance public spaces for social interaction	
Cultural	Opportunity to enhance the City Mall precincts and the urban identity of Christchurch City in general  Opportunities to provide new artworks in new public spaces	
	Opportunities to increase the conservation and retention of heritage features	
Environmental	Opportunities to improve the physical amenity and over all feel of the area.  Opportunities to increase the growth and use of the area	
Economic	Opportunities to increase economic investment and activity by raising the environmental amenity, diversity, and intensity of land use activities.  Opportunities to increase cultural tourism in Christchurch Central City	To open up the roadway for Cycles and/or the tram will require an SCP.  To future proof the road and allow for the tram has a cost of \$119,000 for which there is no budget provision. It is expected that this will be resolved as a result of the requested tram study.  The approved funding for the plan as presented is ex the LTCCP as per paragraph 11 above.

# Extent to which community outcomes are achieved:

Primarily aligned with the Community Outcome of A Prosperous City and an Attractive and Well Designed City, and also contributes to A Safe City by:

- o Actively pursuing public-private partnerships for urban renewal and development
- o Improving pedestrian amenity and access
- Using quality urban design principles to improve use of interaction between public-private spaces
- Strengthening the character and identity of the Central City by highlighting its distinctive features, including historic features
- Creating opportunities to increase diversity and intensity of land use and therefore increasing efficient resource use
- o Improving lighting and redesign of areas identified as currently being "high crime sites".

## Impact on Council's capacity and responsibilities:

It may be necessary to extend the city street maintenance and cleaning programme to cover additional requirements at additional ongoing costs.

The new "road like" structures will require strict enforcement policies to be implemented and to be seen to be implemented.

#### Effects on Maori:

None identified

# Consistency with existing Council policies:

In addition to the Community Outcomes under the Long Term Council Community Plan, the City Mall Renovation is aligned with the Central City Revitalisation Strategy and the Central City Transport Concept. It is also consistent with Council policy to improve pedestrian facilities and the quality of the pedestrian environment under the Christchurch City Plan and the Christchurch Pedestrian Strategy. As an urban design and development initiative, the Plan also gives expression to the National Urban Design Protocol which the Council signed in 2005.

# Views and preferences of persons affected or likely to have an interest:

These have been reflected during the consultation process and subsequent seminar.

# Other relevant matters:

The physical structure being put in place to contain and regulate service vehicles is by any other name a road. It is the legal definition, signage and enforcement that changes its usage and the public perception regarding whether it is a "road". It is for this reason that the build can proceed without any SCP as the usage and designation will be exactly the same as it is currently, being that usage is restricted to goods service vehicles between the hours of 4:00pm and 11:00am daily. This same restriction means that to introduce a cycle way requires an SCP process which if successful would then result in signs indicating that cycling is allowed, likewise for other vehicles or varied usage including the tram.

47. **City Mall High Street** Accept the proposed design and open the street to one way traffic at all times, also lay the base for possible Tram tracks.

	Benefits (current and future)	Costs (current and future)
Social	Opportunity to increase public access and enhance public spaces for social interaction	
Cultural	Opportunity to enhance the City Mall precincts and the urban identity of Christchurch City in general, especially the concept of the original processional route	
	Opportunities to provide new artworks in new public spaces	
	Opportunities to increase the conservation and retention of heritage features	
Environmental	Opportunities to improve the physical amenity and over all feel of the area.	
	Opportunities to increase the growth and use of the area	
Economic	Opportunities to increase economic investment and activity by raising the environmental amenity, diversity, and intensity of land use activities.	To open up the roadway will require an SCP. If this SCP is the subject of a legal challenge then this will impact on the capital budget allocated for construction.
	Opportunities to increase cultural tourism in Christchurch Central City	A study by traffic engineers has highlighted with regard to this proposal "that overall the CBD is not affected by the local change."
		To future proof the road and allow for the tram has a cost of \$125,000 which is covered by the Central City Transport Strategy budget
		The approved funding for the plan as presented is ex the LTCCP as per paragraph 11 above.

## Extent to which community outcomes are achieved:

Primarily aligned with the Community Outcome of A Prosperous City and an Attractive and Well Designed City, and also contributes to A Safe City by:

- o Actively pursuing public-private partnerships for urban renewal and development
- Using quality urban design principles to improve use of interaction between public-private spaces
- Strengthening the character and identity of the Central City by highlighting its distinctive features, including historic features
- Creating opportunities to increase diversity and intensity of land use and therefore increasing efficient resource use
- o Improving lighting and redesign of areas identified as currently being "high crime sites".

## Impact on Council's capacity and responsibilities:

It may be necessary to extend the city street maintenance and cleaning programme to cover additional requirements at additional ongoing costs.

The new "road like" structures will require strict enforcement policies to be implemented and to be seen to be implemented, especially as long as it is restricted to being a service lane.

#### Effects on Maori:

None identified

# Consistency with existing Council policies:

In addition to the Community Outcomes under the Long Term Council Community Plan, the City Mall Renovation is aligned with the Central City Revitalisation Strategy and the Central City Transport Concept. As an urban design and development initiative, the Plan also gives expression to the National Urban Design Protocol which the Council signed in 2005.

# Views and preferences of persons affected or likely to have an interest:

These have been reflected during the consultation process and subsequent seminar.

## Other relevant matters:

The physical structure being put in place to contain and regulate service vehicles is by any other name a road. It is the legal definition, signage and enforcement that changes its usage and the public perception regarding whether it is a "road". It is for this reason that the build can proceed without any SCP as the usage and designation will be exactly the same as it is currently, being that usage is restricted to goods service vehicles between the hours of 4:00pm and 11:00am daily. This same restriction means that to open this structure up to being a slow road requires an SCP process which if successful would then result in the removal of the signs indicating that only service vehicles are allowed.

# MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CHRISTCHURCH CITY COUNCIL HELD AT 9.30AM ON THURSDAY 26 JULY 2007

PRESENT:

The Mayor, Garry Moore (Chairperson).

Councillors Helen Broughton, Sally Buck, Graham Condon, Barry Corbett, David Cox, Anna Crighton, Carole Evans, Pat Harrow, Bob Parker, Bob Shearing and Sue Wells.

## 1. APOLOGIES

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Gail Sheriff and Norm Withers.

It was resolved that the apologies be accepted.

#### 2. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES

#### **COUNCIL MEETING OF 19 JULY 2007**

Resolved: That the minutes of the Council meeting held on Thursday 19 July 2007 with the public present be confirmed.

# 3. DEPUTATIONS BY APPOINTMENT

# (a) Courtenay Street: Road Widening Designation

Emma Twaddell made submissions on behalf of Courtenay Street residents, requesting the Council to reconsider the current collector road status of Courtenay Street, and the possible uplifting of the associated road widening designations currently in place along Courtenay Street.

Mrs Yvonne Palmer (Chairperson, Shirley/Papanui Community Board) also tabled an associated petition signed by residents of Courtenay Street.

It was **resolved** that the submission and associated petition be referred to staff for consideration, and report back to the Council.

#### 4. PRESENTATION OF PETITIONS

# (a) Reopening of City Mall to Vehicular Traffic

Councillor Crighton tabled a petition signed by approximately 6,800 person, opposing the reintroduction of vehicular traffic in the City Mall. It was **resolved** that the petition be received.

# 5. CORRESPONDENCE

Nil.

# 6. SUBMISSION: CENTRAL PLAINS WATER TRUST RESOURCE CONSENT APPLICATIONS TO SELWYN DISTRICT COUNCIL

Resolved: That the staff recommendation be adopted.

# 7. SUSTAINABLE ENERGY STRATEGY FOR CHRISTCHURCH 2008-18

Resolved: That the staff recommendation be adopted.

## 8. CENTRAL CITY LANES PLAN

**Resolved:** That the Council adopt the Central City Lanes Plan, subject to the inclusion of an amendment to reinforce the potential requirement for an archaeological authority from the Historic Places Trust where excavation works occur.

# 9. REMOVAL OF SPECIFIED STRUCTURES IN THE HIGH STREET PORTION OF THE CITY MALL

This item was considered later in the meeting.

# 10. CANTERBURY REGIONAL POLICY STATEMENT PROPOSED CHANGE NO 1 - DEVELOPMENT OF GREATER CHRISTCHURCH

The Mayor referred to the revised Memorandum of Understanding No 1, which had been separately circulated after the initial report had been delivered to Councillors. He advised that it had not been possible to circulate the revised memorandum within two clear days of the Council meeting, as the required information was not then available, but that it was essential for the revised Memorandum to be considered in conjunction with the associated report at the present Council meeting.

It was **resolved** that the revised version of Memorandum of Understanding No 1 be received, and considered at the present Council meeting.

Resolved: That the Council:

- (a) Endorse the Proposed Change No 1 (Development of Greater Christchurch) of the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement.
- (b) Adopt the revised Memorandum of Understanding No 1.

(Note: the foregoing resolution was **adopted** on division no 1 by 12 votes to 0, the voting being as follows:

For (12): The Mayor, Garry Moore and Councillors Helen Broughton, Sally Buck,

Graham Condon, Barry Corbett, David Cox, Anna Crighton, Carole Evans,

Pat Harrow, Bob Parker, Bob Shearing and Sue Wells.

Against (0): Nil.)

# 9. REMOVAL OF SPECIFIED STRUCTURES IN THE HIGH STREET PORTION OF THE CITY MALL

# It was resolved:

- (a) That as part of the implementation of the City Mall Revitalisation Project, the Council confirm:
  - (i) The removal of the Stewart Fountain.
  - (ii) The removal of the amphitheatre on the corner of High and Cashel Streets.
  - (iii) The removal of the High Street airbridge.
- (b) That, once the assignments have been finalised, negotiations between the Council, OLT Properties Ltd and Seaview Road Ltd commence for surrender of the leases to facilitate the removal of the airbridge for Stage 1 of the Central City Mall Revitalisation Project.
- (c) That the Corporate Support Manager and the Transport and Greenspace Unit Manager be given delegated authority to conclude the negotiations and subsequent lease surrenders to enable the removal of the airbridge.

- (d) That it be noted that the Chief Executive will submit a report to the 2 August 2007 Council meeting with regard to the City Mall, relating to:
  - (i) Vehicular access,
  - (ii) Decision making matrix.

(Note: Councillors Broughton and Buck recorded their votes against the adoption of clause (a)(ii) of the foregoing resolution. Councillor Wells abstained from the voting on the same clause of the resolution.)

# 11. NOTICES OF MOTION

Nil.

## 12. QUESTIONS

Nil.

# 13. RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE THE PUBLIC

It was resolved that the resolution to exclude the public set out on page 71 of the agenda be adopted.

## **CONFIRMED THIS 2ND DAY OF AUGUST 2007**

MAYOR

# MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CHRISTCHURCH CITY COUNCIL HELD AT 9.30AM ON THURSDAY 26 JULY 2007

PRESENT: The Mayor, Garry Moore (Chairperson).

Councillors Helen Broughton, Sally Buck, Graham Condon, Barry Corbett, David Cox, Anna Crighton, Carole Evans, Pat Harrow, Bob Parker, Bob Shearing, Gail Sheriff,

Sue Wells and Norm Withers.

# 14. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES

## **COUNCIL MEETING OF 19 JULY 2007**

Resolved: That the minutes of the Council meeting held on Thursday 19 July 2007 with the public excluded be confirmed.

## 15. CONCLUSION

The meeting concluded at 11.52am.

**CONFIRMED THIS 2ND DAY OF AUGUST 2007** 

MAYOR

#### 9. REMOVAL OF SPECIFIED STRUCTURES IN THE HIGH STREET PORTION OF THE CITY MALL

General Manager responsible:	General Manager City Environment, DDI 941- 8656	
Officer responsible:	Transport and Greenspace Unit Manager	
Author:	Clarrie Pearce, Project Manager	

#### PURPOSE OF REPORT

 The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval for the removal of three structures in High Street between Hereford and Cashel streets during Phase I of the City Mall Renovation Project. The report also recommends approval of the surrender of the leases such that the removal of the Air Bridge for the City Mall Renovation Project can be effected.

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

- There are a number of structures whose removal were indicated and adopted in principle when the Council approved design documents for the City Mall Renovation Project. At its meeting on 14 December 2006 the Council resolved:
  - "That the staff recommendations be adopted, subject to recommendation (a) being amended to read "That the Council adopt the overall concept design and grant approval for the project to proceed to the detailed design and construction phase.""
- 3. The Council's approval was for the renovation programme and related designs as a whole and did not identify specific design features or elements. As such, staff now seek explicit approval to remove three specific structures, the removal of which is necessary to deliver the project as designed and previously approved.
- 4. The specific structures affected in Phase I are:
  - (a) The Stewart Fountain,
  - (b) The High Street Airbridge
  - (c) The High Street/Cashel Street Amphitheatre.
- 5. All three structures have outlived their usefulness and are now considered to have detrimental impacts on the current function of the City Mall. Their removal is viewed as a vital component of the renovation project as their current location presents substantial barriers to the successful revitalisation of the area.
- In a related action, this report also seeks approval for the Council to enter into negotiations with OLT Properties Limited and Seaview Road Limited for the surrender of the lease to facilitate the removal of the Airbridge in High Street.

# FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

 The cost of removing the airbridge and making good to the adjoining properties is provided in the budget allocated for Central City Projects, as is the cost for the replacement of the other two structures. (Page 83 LTCCP).

## Do the Recommendations of this Report Align with 2006-16 LTCCP budgets?

8. In 2006 as part of the LTCCP process (Page 83 LTCCP), the Council agreed that the City Mall area was in need of revitalisation and allocated \$10.5 million for the renovation of this public space. Following on from that decision, Council staff and consultants developed a renovation plan for the City Mall.

# LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

- 9. The Legal Services Unit has advised that before a surrender of the airbridge lease in High Street can occur, the Council needs to make sure that as each property was sold the parties assigned their rights in the airbridge to the new owners of the property. Permission to update these assignments was given to staff by the Council on 10 May 2007.
- 10. The existing policy with regard to airspace use has been considered (refer Appendix A).

## Have you considered the legal implications of the issue under consideration?

11. This report addresses the concerns of the Legal Services Unit.

#### ALIGNMENT WITH LTCCP AND ACTIVITY MANAGEMENT PLANS

 Yes, the City Mall Renovation Project is identified as the LTCCP and aligns with City Environment and City Development Activity Management Plans.

# Do the recommendations of this report support a level of service or project in the 2006-16 LTCCP?

13. Yes, as discussed in the "Background" section of this report, the three actions which are sought for approval in this report support the City Mall Renovation Project and Central City Revitalisation Project as identified in the "Capital Works" and "City Development" sections of Volume 1 of the 2006-16 LTCCP.

## **ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIES**

14. The project aligns with Council's community outcomes for an attractive and well designed city. It also aligns with the Greater Christchurch Urban Development Strategy and the Central City Revitalisation Strategy (Refer p83 LTCCP).

# Do the recommendations align with the Council's strategies?

15. As above.

#### **CONSULTATION FULFILMENT**

16. Extensive public consultation has been carried out on the Central City Mall Revitalisation. The most targeted effort was made in October 2006. During this consultation the majority of respondents favoured the removal of the Stewart Fountain and the airbridges in the City Mall. The Stewart family have publicly expressed their support for the removal of the Stewart Fountain and for it to be replaced with a plaza that contains a significant public art work. Discussions have been ongoing with the two property owners connected by the High Street air bridge and both are supportive of it's removal. As to opinion on the amphitheatre, the public was split as to its retention or removal. However, there was a clear public response that the current dynamic of the amphitheatre, i.e. how it is used, is not desirable and that the space should be improved. In summary, feedback from consultation to-date has generally supported the removal of these three structures.

# STAFF RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Council grant approval for:

- (a) The removal of the Stewart Fountain.
- (b) The amphitheatre on the corner of High and Cashel Streets.
- (c) The removal of the High Street airbridge.
- (d) That once the assignments have been finalised, negotiations between the Council, OLT Properties Ltd and Seaview Road Ltd commence for surrender of the leases to facilitate the removal of the airbridge for Stage 1 of the Central City Mall Revitalisation Project.
- (e) That the Corporate Support Manager and the Transport and Greenspace Unit Manager be given delegated authority to conclude the negotiations and subsequent lease surrenders to enable the removal of the airbridge.

#### BACKGROUND - RATIONALE FOR REMOVAL

- 17. An initial and fundamental premise of the City Mall Renovation Project was the need to alter some of the underlying constraints that are causing the slow deterioration of this important public and commercial space. The renovation project was never intended to be a simple dressing up of the City Mall. Earlier proposals for minor improvements were shelved as a cosmetic fix for the area was deemed insufficient in the face of the broader challenges confronting the City Mall. The City Mall Renovation Project is about improving how the area functions and how it connects to the rest of the Central City.
- 18. After analysing the current performance of the City Mall, nine principles for the successful redevelopment of the City Mall were identified by the project team. Four of these principles are directly applicable to this report and the approval now sought. They are:
  - (a) Create strong links to the surrounding Central City;
  - (b) Create clear, direct links within the City Mall;
  - (c) Reduce clutter and create a clean environment and
  - (d) Improve climatic comfort.
- 19. To achieve these redevelopment objectives and to meet the more fundamental mandate of addressing the City Mall's current weaknesses, the project team recommended the removal of three structures on High Street: Stewart Fountain, The High Street Air Bridge and the High Street/Cashel Street Amphitheatre. The removal of these structures was shown in the design documents adopted by the Council in December 2006. The removal of each of these structures and the redevelopment of the spaces they now occupy are central to the wider City Mall Renovation Project. Retention of any one of these structures would substantially alter the redevelopment plan as developed to date. The rationale for the removal of each of these three structures is now detailed below.

# The Stewart Fountain

- 20. The current Stewart Fountain represents the second attempt at creating a successful water feature on the High Street-Hereford Street triangle reserve. Like its predecessor, the current fountain has generally been viewed as less than successful. The fountain itself has never properly functioned as originally envisioned owing to problems with the pumps and jets. The maintenance of water features is generally difficult, but the design of the current Stewart Fountain is particularly problematic as rubbish is frequently deposited or blown into the fountain and represents an ongoing maintenance liability for the Council.
- 21. Beyond these operational issues the actual location of the fountain is fundamentally flawed. The fountain occupies virtually the whole of the sunniest, most sheltered spot in the City Mall. Consequently, people are excluded from an area that is best suited for seating and gathering because it is dominated by an object that is difficult to interact with. While the original intention of the fountain was to provide an interactive water feature for children, the combination of Christchurch's cool climate and aforementioned problems with trash mean that in practice the fountain is most commonly used by seagulls rather than children. Additionally, the arrangement of seating around the fountain sits directly in the middle of the preferred walking line on High Street, thereby interfering with pedestrian flow and impeding access.
- 22. As a piece of public sculpture, the Stewart Fountain has limited support. The majority of respondents to the October 06 consultation on City Mall favoured the removal of the Stewart Fountain. During this consultation, the Stewart Family also expressed their support for the removal of the fountain and its subsequent replacement with a plaza and major piece of public art. Since this time, the project team have continued their discussion with the Stewart family and Arts & Industry to progress the funding and location of a new art work in this location. Owing to its size, the retention of the current Stewart Fountain would likely preclude the installation of a new art work in this area.

23. Staff are aware of the concern around tiles that decorate the Stewart Fountain and are endeavouring to preserve them. Removal of the tiles has been tested by physical, heat and acid means on four of the black tiles with no success. The most likely scenario for the preservation of the tiles is remove the tiles and concrete in large pieces and allow those people who wish to keep the tiles to claim the tile and attached concrete. Specific tiles that are important to one family in particular have been identified and every effort will be made to remove them intact. All other large pieces of concrete with intact tiles still attached will be taken for storage for 12 months to give people a chance to reclaim them if they wish.

# High Street Airbridge

- 24. There are multiple reasons supporting the removal of the High Street airbridge. First, whilst a popular architectural and planning phenomena in the 1960's and 70's, subsequent experience has shown that airbridges tend to be largely detrimental in urban settings. The theory behind their creation lies in the belief that there should be segregation between pedestrian and vehicular activity and a desire to free up the ground plane for vehicle access. Planners and urban designers have since learned that these ideas lead to auto-dominated, pedestrian unfriendly cities. From a pedestrian as well as retail perspective, contemporary urban design standards encourage as much pedestrian activity on the ground floor as possible. Apart from extremely cold northern hemisphere cities, most cities now restrict the development of pedestrian airbridges.
- 25. Second, the design of the High Street airbridge severely impacts sight lines in the City Mall and visual connections to Cathedral Square and lower High Street. The design intent of High Street is to re-establish this historic link between Cathedral Square and the Port Hills. Retention of the airbridge stands in direct contradiction to this design intent. Removal of the airbridge would allow for a better visual connection along High Street, thereby achieving the revitalisation objective of linking our various Central City precincts.
- 26. Third, the High Street airbridge has limited use. The airbridge connects to only a few upper story locations and is not the preferred route for City Mall users be they students or shoppers. Casual observation notes that, even on rainy days, the preferred method of access across High Street is at ground level and not via the airbridge. This will continue to be the case whether the Mall is opened to slow traffic or remains pedestrian only. There is also a perception of lack of pedestrian safety in this airbridge owing to the corners, low lighting, and low use.
- 27. Fourth, the retention of the airbridge would eliminate the future possibility of extending the tram down High Street as clearances below the bridge are insufficient to allow a tram to pass. Reconstruction of the airbridge with a higher clearance is impractical as it would no longer align with the necessary first floor connections. A key element in the redesign of High Street is to expose historical tram tracks under the current surface with perhaps the option in the future to run the tram along them again. The location and height of the airbridge means that if the airbridge remains the tram will not be able to run down High Street in the future. (Refer Appendix B).
- 28. Fifth, the retention of the airbridge would seriously complicate any future decision to establish a service lane, slow road or movement corridor on High Street as the present locations of the bridge's footings would require any travel lane to circumvent them, thereby impinging on, degrading and adversely affecting the safety of the pedestrian footpaths.
- 29. Sixth, the two properties owners whose buildings are linked by the airbridge support its removal owing to it being obsolete, unsightly and they consider it a deterrent to public accessing their sites. They have both provided written support for the removal.
- 30. Seventh, the majority of respondents to the October 2006 consultation (see Appendix C for description of consultation process) supported the removal of the airbridges with greater support specifically for the removal of the High Street airbridge.

# **Amphitheatre**

- 31. The removal of the High St-Cashel Street amphitheatre is an important part of the renovation project. Amphitheatres, by design, are inwardly focused. The effect of their location in public spaces is to orientate users inward and exclude interaction with peripheral events and activities. This is further exacerbated when they are centrally located in public spaces.
- 32. The current use of the City Mall amphitheatre perfectly illustrates this dynamic. The amphitheatre is typically dominated by one group of users which then have the effect of excluding City Mall patrons who are not in that group. Despite it's central location, the strong circular form of the amphitheatre discourages people from walking through the space as its arrangement signals to pedestrians that you are 'intruding on someone else's space'.
- 33. The high berms of the amphitheatre also obscure sightlines through the City Mall, particularly to retailers on the north-east side of High Street and may be a contributing factor to some of the illegal activity that occurs in the area and perceptions of an unsafe environment.
- 34. Recognising the importance of this space to area youth as well as to events such as the World Busker's Festival, the proposed renovation seeks to retain these performance space functions. The redeveloped space will still be a great spot for events and will remain an open gathering space for youth. The primary difference is that the new space will be arranged in a more open format with a defined edge, thereby preventing the area from being dominated by a single group of users. Plenty of seating and event space will be provided. In addition, current plans call for the location of a retail kiosk on the south-eastern side of the reserve triangle. This kiosk will have the twin benefit of mitigating the easterly wind while also providing passive surveillance of the area.